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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

SECURITIESAND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION,

Plaintiff,
V. Civil Action No. 11-895 (JEB)
E-SMART TECHNOLOGIES, INC,, et al.,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Thislong+unning case featurescavil-enforcement actiobroughtby the Searities and
Exchange Commissioallegingthat eSmartTechnologiesinc., a public company, was a sham.
While it purported to be at the cutting edge of developing and manufacturing a biometri¢ “smar
card such claimsaccording to the Commissiongrepie in the sky.In fact, pro seDefendats
Mary Grace(the company’s CEGandTamio Saito (its Qief Technology @icer) repeatedly
misrepresented theards’capabilitiesto investors. Tis Court, having granted summary
judgment to the SEC on most of its claims against Grace, turns now to its allegatioesing
Saito.

The Commissiomrmoves for summary judgment on both counts asserted against him —
namely,that(1) he violated Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-
5 by making material misrepresentations in connectidh thie sale of securitieand tha(2) he
violated Section 16(a)f the Actby failing to file required ownership statemen&aitoboth
opposes androssmoves for summary judgment timeseclaims Resolution of thesnotions,

in turn, requires the Court to rule on the parties’ dueling independent motions to eékelude
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others’ expert reportsHaving waded through the extensive submissions — including Saito’s,
which are particularlyesistant to sensible interpretatierthe Courultimatelybelievesthat the
SEC has proveits case. It willthus grant th€ommissian’s Motion for Summary Judgment
and deny Saito’s.
l. Background

This Court has already described much of the relevant backgodtind casen

previouslengthyOpinions. SeeSEC v. eSmart Technologies, IncE{Smart ), 31 F. Supp. 3d

69, 74-78 (D.D.C. 2014); SEC v. e-Smart Technologies, In&nfiart 1) No. 11-895, 2014 WL

6612422 at*1-4 (D.D.C. Nov. 21, 2014SECv. eSmart Technologies, In¢E-Smart 111), No.

11-895, 2015 WL 583931, at *1-2 (D.D.C. Feb. 12, 2016jherefore summarizemly the
basic underlyindacts hereand sets ounore details where relevantthe subsequent analysis.
SeeSection lll,infra. In so doing, the Couis awarethat, on a motion for summary judgment,
it mustview the facts in the light most favorable to the non-moving p&geAnderson v.

Liberty Lobby, Inc, 477 U.S. 242, 255 (1986). As explained more fiatgr on howeverthe

filings Saito hastyled “Statements of Fact” aen oftenimpenetrable pasthe of passages from
emails reports and unidentified documents interspersed with commeniss\a result, to
summarize the relevant background, the Cdratvsprimarily from undisputed documents and
its prior Opinions.

E-Smartwas a publicly traded compafgngaged in the business of creating, marketing,
manufacturing, installing, operating and maintaining biometric identificationcegrdn
systems.” Pl. Mot., Att. 1 (2006 1&SB) (ECF No. 388-4at 3 According to its pulx filings,
its “core technology” was a “stat&f-the-art SupeiSmart Card and Biometric Verification

System. . . designed to accomplish immediate, local recognition of a person’s fingérpeindt



4. Key to eSmart’s card wasdh on-board biometric matching engine,” which enabled it to
“perform identification verification without reference to any extedashbase.”ld. According
to eSmart, thigechnology couldbe appliedn a variety of contexts such as banking security
access- toverify people’s identities angrotectpersonalnformationcontained onor accessed
by, thecards Id. This, eSmartclaimed represented unique and highly lucrative technology.
In representationt® investorsit claimed to béthe first. . . [and] onlycompany offering a
commercially availablgcontact] . . . and . . . [wireless] . . . smart card with a fingerprint sensor
onboard, biometric matching engine onboard and a multi-application processoid..at.5.

Notwithstanding these reportadhievements, the company struggled to stay afloat.
had little revenue and depended continuously on invefstionsore funds.SeeE-Smartlll, 2015
WL 583931, at *2. Esmartfrequently assuresuch investors that significant contracts and
investmentsverejust around the corner, aitd press releases echoed this thetde. The
purported contracts and investments almost never seemed to materialize, hamgevegny
investors later felt that they had been deceivdd

Agreeing, the SEC brought ghcivil-enforcement action on May 13, 2011, against
several Defendants includingSmartandits CTO, Tamio Saitold. The crux ofthe SEC’s
Complaint agains®aitois that in his role ashe principal architect aé-Smart’stechnology, he
repeatedly lied about the actual capabilibéany productthate-Smart had produced. Although
heclaimed that the comparmada highly functionabmartcard that was ready for commercial
deployment, émart hadn factonly developedh prototype that did natven work as promised
Based ortheseallegedly false statements, t@emmissiorclaims thatSaitoviolated Section
10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule51lBp-making material

misrepresentations in connectiortinwine sale of securitiesSeeFirstAm. Compl.(ECF No.



169) 11113-15. It also allegabathe violated Section 16(af the Act by failing to filecertain
required ownership statementSeeid., {11127-29.

As a remedy, the SESeeksdisgorgement andwl penalties. Seeid. at 30-31(Prayer
for Relief). It also seeksn injunction prohibiting Saito froqparticipating inpenny-stock
offerings,serving as an officer or director oértainissuers of securities, and engaging in further
securitiesviolations. 1d. As mentioned previously, the Court has already granted summary
judgment to the SEC on the lion’s share of counts related to CEO Mary G@aeE:Smatrt 1|

2014 WL 6612422; EEmatrt Ill, 2015 WL 583931. Itis now Saito’s turn in the sigbt.

. Legal Standard
Summary judgment may be granted if “the movant shows that there is no genuine dispute
as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of lawR. E&d.P.

56(a);see alsd.iberty Lobby, 477 U.S. at 247-48olcomb v. Powell, 433 F.3d 889, 895 (D.C.

Cir. 2006). A fact is “material” if it is capable of affecting the substantiveoougcof the

litigation. SeeLiberty Lobby 477 U.S. at 248; Holcomb, 433 F.3d at 895. A dispute is

“genuine” if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdioe honmoving

party. SeeScott v. Harris, 550 U.S. 372, 380 (2004perty Lobby, 477 U.S. at 248; Holcomb,

433 F.3d at 895. “A party asserting that a fact cannot be or is genuinely disputed must support
the assertion” by “citing to particular parts of materials in the record’hmwsng that the
materials cited do not establish the absence or presence of a genuine disputanadiease
party cannot produce admissible evidence to support the fact.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1).

When a motion for summary judgment is under consideration, “[tjhe evidence of the non-
movantis to be believed, and all justifiable inferences are to be drajmmsirfavor.” Liberty

Lobby, 477 U.S. at 255ee alsdMastro v. PEPCO, 447 F.3d 843, 850 (D.C. Cir. 2006); Aka v.




Wash. Hosp. Citr., 156 F.3d 1284, 1288 (D.C. Cir. 1988)@an¢. On a motion for summary

judgment, the Court must “eschew making credipbdeterminations or weighing the evidence.”

Czekalski v. Petergl75 F.3d 360, 363 (D.C. Cir. 2007). The non-moving party’s opposition,

however, must consist of more than mere unsupported allegations or denials and must be
supported by affidavits, declarations, or other competent evidence, settingotaificfacts

showing that there is a genuine issue for trggeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(e); Celotex Corp. v.

Catrett 477 U.S. 317, 324 (1986). The non-movant is required to provide evidence that would

permit a reasonable jury to find in its favor. Laningham v. Navy, 813 F.2d 1236, 1242 (D.C. Cir.

1987). If the nommovant’s evidence is “merely colorable” or “not significantly probative,
summary judgment may be grantddberty Lobby, 477 U.S. at 249-50.
1.  Analysis

Beforeresolving the substantive issues raised in the pa@essMotions for SImmary
Judgmentthe Courtmust attend téwo thresholdssuesthe significant deficiencies in
Defendant’'silings andthe partiescompeting Motions tot8ke expert reports After clearing
awaythis underbrushit will thenturn to theSECs contentionsagainst Saite- namely,that the
undisputed material facts demonstriiat: (1)he violated Section 10(b) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5; #&phe violated Section 16(af the Act

A. Saitds Filings

TheCourt is once again astonishieglthefilings in this case.Defendantsave been
warned thapleadings should not “feature every font available in Microsoft Word and every
color in the rainbow, with cuendpaste enails and other outside materials sprinkled throughout
the legal argument without demarcatiole-Smart | 31 F. Supp. 3dt 8586. “Further filings”

the Courthas statedbluntly, “should satisfy the basic demandseddability.” Id. at 86. Saito’s



filings — whether styled as memorandtatements of factr reports- are nonetheless,
consistent in one thing only: they all ignore this admonition. Every operative document is a
potpourri ofexcerpted sourcesterspersedvith legalargumentandarrangedn varied colors,
fonts, and font sizes.

This presentatiorenderst difficult for the Court to make the determination that is
pivotal on summary judgmentwz., whether a dispute of material fact actuaikysts. Uhder
Local Rule 7(h), for instance, an opposition to a motion for summary judgmentimeust “
accompanied by a separate concise statement of genuine issues setting fatiriall fiacts as
to which it is contended there exists a genuine isscessary to be litigated.Suchstatement
“shall include references to the parts of the record relied sagport the statement’CvR
7(h)(1). Instead of addressing the SEC’s Statement, however, Saito has produced only his own
multi-part“Statement ofndisputed Material Facts*several &ten duplicative filings totaling
357 pages of text, diagrams, and photogra@eeECF Nos 492-500. The paragraphsf these
filings do not correspond to the SEC’s Statement of Undisputed Material Factshefamdyt
time they réerence th€ommission’'sStatements whenDefendantintermittentlyandin a
conclusory fashion, states that some pasted passage from another déptoaeatfalse” a long
list of the SEC'’s factsThis formatsignificantly burdens th€ourt’s effortsto determine with
any precision themport of thematerialshe includes- let alone whether they create a dispute
As a resultSaitooftenleaves the Couduessingtthe inferencete would have it draw from
his filings.

Thedeficiencies in Defendant’s tatemens of Fact couldalone warrant the grant of
summary judgment in the SEC'’s favor. “In determining a motion for summary jundgtne

court may assume that facts identified by the moving party in its statement of mattsaré



admitted, unless such a fact is controverted in the statement of genuineiisduapposition

to the motion.” LCVR 7(I{(L); see als&EC v. Banner Fund Ihf 211 F.3d 602, 615-16 (D.C.

Cir. 2000) (upholding district court’s grant of summary judgment for SEC becateseddnt
failed to follow Local Rule 7(h)). Given this rule, the Court “is not ‘obliged tatlsifiugh
hundreds of pages of depositions, affidavits, and interrogatories in order to makenits
analysis and determination of what may, or may not, be a genuine issue oélndatprited

fact.” Potter v. Dist. of Columbia, 558 F.3d 542, 550 (quoiimgst v. Meese854 F.2d 1421,

1425 (D.C. Cir. 1988))xeeJackson v. Finnegan, et al., 101 F.3d 145, 154 (D.C. Cir. 1996).

At bottom, Local Rule 7(h) “embodies the thought that judges ‘are not like pigs, hunting
for truffles buried in briefs’ or the record Potter 558 F.3d at 558/\illiams, J., cocurring)

(quoting_United States v. Dunkel, 927 F.2d 955, 956 (7th Cir. 199hjs observations

especially apt ira case like this, whewrehunt through thentirerecordwould provetoilsome
andtediousandany promise of truffledlusory. The docket is now bloatedth hundreds of
entriescomprisingtens of thousands of pages of documents often siiphgifiedas “errata.”
A teamof pigs could root around in there for years and find nothing but dirt.

The Court, howevemindful of the im@ct ofgrantng summary judgment and unwilling
to take such a step lightlgaswaded through hundreds of pages ofrttaerialshat Saito
submittedin order to give him, as@o sedefendant, thevidest latitudgpossiblen construing
his response tthe SEC'’s allegations.

B. Expert Reports

The second threshold issue the Court must addetss to the partieskpertreports.
The SEC’s case against Saito hingepart on the falsity ofertaintechnological claims made in

e-Smart’s press releases and filingoth parties, accordingly, have marshalled evidence on the



state of eSmart’s siencein the form of expert reports, and both have moved to strike the other’s
report
A district court has “broad discretion in determining whether to admit or exelxjolert

testimony.” United Stategx rel.Miller v. Bill Harbert Int'l Constr., Inc. 608 F.3d 871, 895

(D.C. Cir. 2010) (quotingnited States v. Gatlin@6 F.3d 1511, 1523 (D.C. Cir. 1996)).

Federal Rule of Evidence 702, which governs the admissibility of such testimonygsrovi

A witness who is qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill,
experience, training, or education may testify in the form of an
opinion or otherwise if:

(a) the expert’s scientific, technical, or other specialized
knowledge will help the trier of fact to understand the
evidence or to determine a fact in issue;

(b) the testimony is based on sufficient facts or data;

(c) the testimony is the product of reliable prinegphnd
methods; and

(d) the expert has reliably applied the principles and
methods to the facts of the case.

Under Rule 702, trial courts are required to act as gatekeepers who may orlgaubnrti

testimony if it is both relevant and reliabl8eeDaulert v. Merrell Dow Pharm., Inc., 509 U.S.

579, 589 (1993)Calvetti v. Antcliff, 346 F. Supp. 2d 92, 110-11 (D.D.C. 2004) (describing

“gatekeeping function” of the district court).
Expert testimony is relevant if it willHelp the trier of fact to understand the evidence or

to determine a fact in isstieFed. R. Evid. 702(akee als®aubert, 509 U.S. at 591 (“This

condition goes primarily to relevanc&xpert testimony which does not relate to any issue in the
case is notalevant and, ergo, non-helpfil(internal quotation marks omittedThe trial judge,
moreover, has “considerable leeway in deciding in a particular case how to gaeteontining

whether particular expert testimony is reliabl&timho Tire Co. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137,

152 (1999)see als®auberf 509 U.S. at 588 (noting “the liberal thrust of the Federal Rules and




their general approach of relaxing the traditional barriers to ‘opinion’ testiimn the context
of expert testimony) (internal quotation marks omitted). While the way in whitabiléy is

evaluated may vary from case to case,” United States v. FragieF.3d 1244, 1262 (11th Cir.

2004) en bang, in all cases, “[t]he trial judge . . . must find that [the proffered expentriesti]
is properly grounded, well-reasoned, and not speculative before it can be admittkdR. Fe
Evid. 702 advisory comm. notes (2000 amend.).
1. TheSEC'’s Motion
For his part, &ito submitted a repodrafted byhimself and three other expertghich
the SEC seeks to exclud&€he Commissiorsummarizes itbasis for striking:
[Saito’s] report . . . does not even attempt to employ the scientific
method, and does not in any way fit the relevant issues in this case.
It is just a mishmash of record evehce, reports submitted years
ago in other contexts, amgse dixitopinions from current or
formere-Smart employees, including . . . Saito. Moreover, the
opinions included in the report, to the extent it is even possible to
determine what those opinions are, are submitted by unqualified
“experts” and are based upon inadmissible evidence.

SeePl. Mot. to Excl. (ECF No. 434t4.

In the main, the SEC has accurately characterized Defendeptsd. The document
entitled “report” consists of: an index of documents; a short statemdéimé byperts; partial
guotes from reports submitted in other contextgrlineated with commentary by the current
experts; biographies for individuals, some of whom, it appears, are not being offexpdrés e
and a conclusion, whiatlaimsthat everything the SEC has said about the card is wideg.
Def. Exp. Rep. (ECF No. 334-1). Saito thHiged with this report hundreds of documents,
consisting of purported declarations, schematics, emails, and prior reports onifieddent

software andhardware- some of which stand alone, others of which are introduced with a few

sentences of commentary or argumedeeECF No0s.334-53.



In the ordinary course, such dizzying and persistent disorganization woulthtvarr
exclusion of an information dump like thisespecially when proffered as an expert repAit.
the summaryudgmentstage in a case like thisoweverthe Court will not &ke such a drastic
step. ConsiderinBefendant’pro sestatus and conscious that Saito, perhaps unintentionally,
oftenblurs the lines betweeazxpert and fact withessebie Court will not exclude the report. It
will, however, consider only the portistof it upon which Saito actually relies in his briefs. In
this respect, althougbonsideredthe report isarelymuch help to him.

2. Defendant’sMotion

Believing that what is sauce for the goose is sauce for the g&ad&r also moves to
exclude theSEC's report. © prepare its expert repothe Commissiometained R. Michael
McCabe of Identification Technology Partners, Inc., a firm ‘tepecializes in the design,
development, and testing of secure syster@eeP|. Mot., Att. 39 (ECF No. 390-1@Expert
Report of IDTP), 1 1As will be detailed more fully belowe-Smart claimed in 2007 to have a
commercially available smart card that was able to accurately identify userditlaréingerprint
sensor while functioning both wireldég@andon contat. IDTP was asked to evaluate these
claims and did so by reviewing previous test @atddeposition transcripts, afy performing
tess of its own. Saitg nonetheless, argues that the report shoukdrimkenon severalgrounds.

First, he claims thahe SEC’s experts lack the requisite expertise to opine on the
technological issues in this cas8eeDef. Mot.to Excl.(ECF No. 541%) at 37 (“Plaintiff’s]
purported Expert Witnesses by their own admission and testimony, are not qualfextl Ex
Witnesses.”) Saito’s mainamentis thatbecause McCab&nd the engineers he worked with —
Gerald Smith and Thomas Greineare not experts in all aspects of “lmetric matckon card

smart cards with system on the card,” they are not qualified to provide the opinioessexd in

10



the SEC’geport. Id. at 34. This argument, however, misinterprexpertwitness
requirements.

As the Supreme Court stated in the seminal opinion of Daubertrial court must
determine whether the proposed expert possesses “a reliable basis in thelg@@anb:
experience of [the relevant] discipline509 U.S. at 592. “Formal education ordinarily suffices,
and a person who holdsgraduate degree typically qualifies as an expert in his or her field.”

Khairkhwa v. Obama, 793 F. Supp. 2d 1, 11 (D.D.C. 2011) (citing Lavespere v. Niagara Mach.

& Tool Works, Inc., 910 F.2d 167, 176-77 (5th Cir. 1990), and Am. Gen. Life Ins. Co. v.

Schoenthal Family, LLC, 555 F.3d 1331, 1338-39 (11th Cir. 2009)). At botonexpert

witness need only wielsluchexpertise that he is alie aid the trier of fact.Coleman v.
Parkline Corp., 844 F.2d 863, 865 (D.C. Cir. 1988). The SEC’s experts meet this standard.
McCabe has a Bachelsiof Sciencen Physics and Blaster'sDegreein Computer
Applications. SeePl. Opp. (ECF No. 5623t 11 He has authored 20 articles on biometric-
matching systems, including oran the performance afheNational Ingitute of Science and
Technologys fingerprintmatching dathase.ld. To top things off, in 200he received an
award specifically for the development of biometric imdgéaexchange standard¢&d. Smith
and Greineare equally qualified Smith hasover 30 years’ experience as an engineer with
compuer electronics and smart cartig, received a Bachelor’s of Science in Electrical
Engineeringand he presently provides technical support on smart-card specificdtdons.
Greiner alsdhas over 30 yearexperience in electronics and comptggstems engineeringe
received alegree in Electronics Technolo@nd he is a Certified Smart Card Alliance
Professional.ld. These are sufficient qualifications to produce admissible opiniotigeon

technologcal capacitie®f eeSmart's card. See, e.g.DaSilva v. American Brands, Inc., 845

11



F.2d 356, 361 (1st Cir. 1988ejecting defendaig argument that mechanical engineer wat
gualified to opine on design of machine because his only prior expevighaéwas as a

production-line supervisor).

Saitonext contends that IDTP’s approach lacked the requisite scientific methodabbgy a

rigor. SeeDef. Mot. & 33. In the SEC’sreport, he claims‘there was a complete lack of
independent methodology whidid not in any way provide any scientific or reliable testing of
the SEC'’s key allegations . .” 1d. His central complaint is that IDTméver tested the cards
only [a] distance of the wireless technology on the card with a ‘not precise’ ‘RULEiIRh
shows the extent of their methodological vaat][” 1d. at 34. The distance test to which Saito
refers, however, relates to cards manufactured after 2808uill be dscussed below, because
the Court ultimately finds summary judgment merited regarding statements Saitbaf@de
these cards were manufacturgdheed not address the disputes regarthiggspecific test

IDTP, moreover, did perform adequately rigagaureless and fingermt tests on the pre-2008
cards.

Third, Saitoargues that IDTP’s Repdidoesnot fit the facts of the caseld. On this
front, heclaims that'Plaintiff's non-expert§] mish-mash of generalized assertions, without
reference to dates and without conducting any specific tests, or havingsammafid knowledge
or experience with testing defendant’s cards in nothing but just speculative comg@s those
scattered arod Plaintiff's purportedExpert report, will do nothing to help the jury or Trier of
Fact.” Id. This is an ironi@ccusation, considering the fact thas an apt description @aito’s
filing, but does noin any wayaccurately describe the SEC’s repaContrary to Defendant’s
contention, moreover, the expert testimony proffered by theiSEQfficiently tied to the facts

of the case that it will aid the jury in resolving a factual dispuferibrosini v. Labarraque, 101

12



F.3d 129, 134 (D.C. Cir. 1996) (quoting and discusBiagberf 509 U.S. at 591). In its Report,
IDTP was asked to and did addrssseral of the scientific issues at the heart of this-e&se
examplethe stateof the technologglaimsthe SEC alleges were false.

Fourth, Defendant contentisat thelDTP Report should be excluded because it merely
“adopts” the statements of othelsl. at 35 “Having done no work of their owhhe alleges,
“besides submitting documents and attachments written by others, Plaintifftsegreot
simply quote and endorse othersd. While the SEC’s xperts’ dd rely on Defedants’
witnesses, their expsaittests, and their documents, this is a well-recognized method to gather

facts and data relied on by a party’s expeM&Reynolds v. Sodexho Marriott Services, |nc.

349 F. Supp. 2d 30, 38 (D.D.C. 2004) (citicgwis v. BoozAllen & Hamilton, Inc, 150 F.

Supp. 2d 81, 92 (D.D.C. 2001) (“The court reaags that the defendanttsvn || data is a
reliable source from which [plaintiff's expert] conducted his examinationg&tams v.

Ameritech Servs., Inc., 231 F.3d 414, 427 (7th Cir. 2000) (“The underlying informaticame.

from the defendants ultimately, and as such we see no problem in [the expert’'s] decisipn to r
onit.”). Experts at IDTP, moreover, did not simply parrot opinions articulatedlesew They
examined data, verified results, gathered their own data, and ran tests ofvtheifheir

approach to the technical issues in this eeas® appropriate to suppa@xpert testimony.

The Court, accordinglyill not strike the SEC'’s repott.

! Saito (and Grace) submitted an additional pleading four months later etittidiin to Strike All or Portions of
Plaintiff's Expert Report and Plainti’ Motions for Summary Judgment and Testimony and Affidavits Whieh ar
Proven by Newly Discovered Evidence to be FalsgeeECF No. 601. Not only is this document rather difficult to
follow, but Saito does not explain eithewihthese arguments differ from those in his prior Motion to Strike or why
they were not included therein. To the extent the Court discerpoitis raised, it does not believe they cast doubt
on its ruling here.

13



C. Countl: Violations of Section 10(b)

Havingnow set the table for the task at hatiee Court moves on to the substantive
guestions presented by the SEC’s Motion. In Count ICthramissioralleges that Saito
violated Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5. Section 10ig@grov
that it is “unlawful for any person . . . [tJo use or employ, in connection with the purchase or s
of any security] . . . any manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of
such rules and regulations as the [SEC] may prescrib& 15 U.S.C. § 78). Pursuant to its
authority under this provision, the SE&SuedRule 10b-5, which establishestht is unlawful
“[tlo make any untrue statement of a material fact or to omit to state a materiaddassary in
order to make the se&hent made . . . not misleading . . . in connection with the purchase or sale
of any security. 17 C.F.R. 8§ 240.10b-5. In an SEC enforcement action, a violation of Section
10(b) and Rule 10b-5 is establishederea defendant(1) madea material misrepresentation or
omission; (2)with scienter(3) in connection with the purchase or sale of securitteseE-

Smatrtl, 31 F. Supp. 3d at 8@iting SEC v. Monarch Funding Corp., 192 F.3d 295, 308 (2d Cir.

1999)).

In its Complaint and briefing, tfteECappears to suggest various bases for finding that
Saitoviolated Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5, including misrepresentationSnmaes10-K
filings, press releaseand other publicationsThe Commissionhoweverjs decidedlyimprecise
whenmaking its caseegardingany one particulastatement For instanceafter listingthe
technologicaktlaims made in-&mart’sSEC filings“for the years 2002 through 2007,
concludes summarily that “[tjhose statements were indisputably false hdyewére made.”
Pl. Mot. at 17. The problem with this shotgun approach is tBab&'stechnology evolved

over time. It appears from the record, for instance, that from 2002-2@0dompanyleveloped

14



several versions of immartcard—each with slightlydifferentcapabilities. During this same
time period moreoveraccording tee-Smart key personnel stolés coretechnologya
misfortune thaforcedit to spend timaeverseengineeing cards to recapture what was lost
other words, ésmart’stechnological cagalities ebbed and flowed.

To further complicatenatters the communications with whicghe SEC takessuevary
one from another sometimes drastically. For instance, wheaitois quoted as saying merely
“that e Smart’s Card is the first commercially viable systemprotect againstientity crime”in
a 2003press elease, seBSOF(ECF No. 38&), 112, eSmart's2006 10-kSBis replete with
detailed technological claimabout thecapabilities of thigproduct. Id., 11 1115. Against this
fluctuatingbackdrop determiing what was false- and knowrto be false-in any given
timeframerequires a careful matching of the state-&neart’s science with the representations
made inits filings and press releasedhis task, regrettably, the Comssion leavetargelyfor
the Court. Fortunately, the Court neexl examine every representatthe EC mentions in its
Complaint. At the end of the dayfinds thatSato made materiahisrepresentsons in the
2006 10KSB that aresufficient to permit judgment for the Commissiam this issue.

In consideringhe SEC'’s claim regarding tha0-KSB, the Court willproceedn five
steps First, it will analyzeto what extent €< mart’sfiling misrepresented the state of the
Companys tedinology at the time Second, it will address whether Saito “made” the
misrepresentations contained in thibd. Third, it will turn to whetheheacted with the
requisite level okcienterto be held liable fothesemisrepresentationg-ourth, it will determine
whether the misrepresentations were “materialrialfy, it will look atwhether they were made

“in connectionwith the sale of securities.”
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1. Misrepresentations
In its 2006 10-kKSB, filed in October of 2007, &mart claimed to havea@mmercially
available smart card with several significant features. As its alleged neseepations concern
techncal features of the card, the Court is required to delve into the specialized mmdrmgra
aspects of each feature. Realizing tha may not be for the faint of heart, the Court will
endeavoto discuss this at a scienfe-poets level.With that inmind, eSmart claimed to have:

a. A card with a unique fingerprint sensor that was thin, capable of working on low power,
and functional regardless of the condition ofdisets skin. See2006 10KSB at 4.

b. A system by which it could reduce false rejectifagure to confirm a user’s identity) to
approximately0.5% and false acceptances (a mistaken acceptance ofus@Qro less
than 0.2%. Fittingly, it referred to this as its “Zero/Zero System.” Whereagps
filings seemed to imply that this systédhad beemperfected e-Smart softened its claim
somewhat in the 2006 IKSB, saying only that it was “continuing to develop” the
technology at that timeld. at 5.

c. A card with the capacity for both contact and wireless functiondltyat 4.

d. An overal platform to implement its productvhich eSmart referred to as the Biometric
Identification Verification Security Systeor “BVS2.” BVS2 purportedly consisted of
the cardcardreaders, operational softwaend “a communication technology that
ensure[d] that the transmission of data throughout the system [woldddee and
reliable’ Id. at 5.

e. A hardwarebased, softwarenhanced muHlapplication system that would allow one

card to “permit/deny access,” “identify precise location and/or movemgrsbnnel,”
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and “watch list partiggd while at the sameme” “each [function would be] completely
and securely isolated . . . from the other[dH" at 4.

f. A card that wasompatible with certain cangaderstandardslid. at 45.

g. The capacity for immediasommerciadeployment.ld. at 5.

E-Smart itself summarized its prodwas follows:*We believe we are the first, and
currently the only company offering a commercially available dual [contact meldss] . . .
smart card with a fingerprint sensmmboard, biometric matching engine onboard and multi-
application processor for deployment todaid’

According to the SEC, each of these representations was false whenThadeourt
will examinethem individually in order to paint a complete pictafe-Smart’s card and aid the
reader in understanding how the various attributes of the cards relate to one anatbetoing,
it ultimately concludes that some are false as a matter of law, but others. are not

a. Fingerprint Sensor

A key component of #nsmart cardhate-Smartclaimed to have wass fingerprint
sensor — that is, the actual hardware that authenticates a card’s user. In its RS&; &0-
Smartpurported to hava “[u]nique” sensor that would function on “low power,” would be
“durable enough to be embedded in a smart card and yet not [be] effectaticlsiettricity, the
elements or the condition . . . of the user’s skill’at 4. The SECcontendghat as of 2007,
this claim was not true

According tothe Commission from 2000-2008, &martdid, through workvith several
outside entitiestry to produce a satisfactory sens8eePSOF, § 26. Wof these attempts
failed. 1d. Instead, throughout the relevant time period, e-Smart used a fingerprint sensor

manufactured ypanother electronics company, Fujitdd., T 27; PI. Mot., Att. 52 (ECF No.
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391-10) (January 1, 2008, Saitonail to Grace) (identifyingensofdevelopment options with
“Back Up plan”being sale ofFujitsu version”of card. The problem with this sensor, the SEC
maintains, is that did not live up to ésmart’s performance claim&eePSOF, { 28. The Court
agrees.

Saito himself, in a 2007 emailetailed the Fujitsu sensor’s deficiencies, describing it as
“not waterproof, not [electrostatic discharge] proof, not live finger and not crack’pilof
Mot., Att. 106 (ECF No. 394-14) (April 4, 200%aito email to Grace). Others at@mart
sharedhis assessment. In July 2008, for instance, Richard KBmatKorea’'s Managing
Director, enailed Grace reporting, among other things, that e-Smart had persuaded arciasstome
accept a sample card that was “[s]till using Fujitsu sensor,” which wagildy vulnerable to
moisture, static electricity,” and “expensive.” JE8OF, § 86 (quoting Pl. Mot., Att. 73 (ECF
No. 393-6) (July 27, 200&im e-mail to Grace)).Saito himself, moreover, confirmed in
deposition testimony that “the Fujitsu sensor was insensitive to dry fingerskidiyand that it
did “not respond[] correctly to the dry skin of the fingers.” Pl. Mot., Att. 25A (ECF No0.12§9-
(Deposition of Tamio Saito) at 108:17-109:05.

For his part, Saito does not directly dispute treesseertios. The only mention dhe
Fujitsu sensor in hibriefsis contained in the abowgioted Kim email.SeeCrossMot. & Opp.
(ECF No. 497)at 32. And the closest his Expert Report comes to answering thgoallisga
passage buried in the declaration of one of his experts, Teruhiko Tamori. Tanmasi eladiong
other things, that he “evaluatedénsorésmade by the KyungHee University engineers and
confirmed thathey werg¢ functional, pressure sensors, water proof, [and] ESD proof .Def
Exp.Repat, Declaration of Teruhiko Tamori (ECF No. 346-7), 1 17F. That declaration,

however, provides no timeframe for this purported evaluation, no description of his
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methodology, and — moshportantly—no basis to believe that these sensors were ever gctuall
included in any smart card manufactured §meart in the relevant timeframe.

The Court concludes, therefotbatthe undisputed facts show tl{a) e Smart used the
Fujitsu sensor in its smart cards until at least 2@08 (2) thathis sensor -according to Saito
himself— was neither “unique” nor able to function regardless of a user’s skin condition, as
claimed by eSmart in its 2006 10-KSB. To this extent, it is undisputed that this representation
was false.

b. Zero/Zero

E-Smarts next major claim went to its smart cardisgerprintrecognition capabilities.
Specifically, it trumpetethat it was developing a system it referred to as “Zero/Zbyowhich
it could reduce false rejections to approxima@b# and false acceptances to less thafno.

This isnot an irsignificant claim As a generalule, thesetwo numbers move in an inverse
relationshipwith one anotherthe lower the falseejection rate (and less stringenthe program
screens fing@rints), the higher the falsseceptance rate. Being able to lower both is a valuable
accomplishment.

The SEC contends thatSmart never achievdatle levelof fingerprint recognitiort
claimed. The evidence on this point comes from two sources, and the easiest wsgnb pre
them ischronologically. The first test of the claim came in August 2008, when Grace, throug
her attorney, retained Exponent, a consulting firm, to evaludteast's performanceapability
Because both parties ultimately rely on the tests Exponerdeare.q, PSOF, 140-43;Cross
Mot. & Opp. at 6, 8, 11-12, 40-41, the Court considers the relevant portitmsfion’s report

in theirentirety.
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Exponent waspecificallyhired to evaluate, among other thing§raart's zerezero
claim as articulated in the 2006-K&B. As relayed in its report, the results were very good for
e-Smart. The principal investigator, Brad McGoran, “enrolled [his] righttpofinger” on an e-
Smart card and then “proceeded toragieto match that finger 100 times.” Exponent Report
(ECF No. 4991) at 8. The “matching success rate was 100% with no unsuccessful matching
attempts when presenting the enrolled fingangerformance thdsupport[ed the fact that the ‘I
AM’ card biometric technology and matching algorithm can support a false reject rate of less
than 0.2%.”Id. Healsofound eSmart’s falsepositiverate claimborne out.Id. at 9. Based on
this examination, Exponent concluded th&reart’s card erformed “consistat[ly]” with it s
zerozero claim. Id. at vi.

The SEC contends, however, that this report does not tell the whole story. thabtes
thefirst card eSmart provided to Exponeantashedshortly aftertesting beganSeePSOF, 40
(citing Deposition of Brad McGoran at 78:21-79:11) (not identified in PSOF but included as At
35A) (ECF No. 390-7)); Exponent Report at 6; PI. Mot., Att. 40 (ECF No.139@McGoran
Dep., Exh. 18). The card Exponettimately based its results on was similarly flaweanity
allowed a fraction opotential users to register with the card. This, the 8i§Gesrenders e
Smart’s zerezero claims falseAccording tothe experts dDTP, “International standards
specifically require that fingerprint images be captured accurately in ordaictdate reliable
[false-acceptance] and [falgejection] rates.”Expert Report of IDTP,  46. “[lJn order to
prevent failure to enroll to skew the results of FAR/FRR tests,” they notedstahdards
require the failure to match rate be adjusted by the failure to enroll ratediacpra reliable false
reject and false acceptance ratid’ In other words, to claim that a fingerprint sensor is highly

accurate, it must also be the case that it works with most fingjaesfailureto-enroll rate of the
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e-Smart ards,IDTP concludedrefuted any claim o& low falseacceptance or falsejection
rate Id., § 47.

The Court is not persuaded. While the SEC has raised serious doubts about the viability
of eSmart’s zerezero claims, tang all of the evidence together, the Court cannot conclude that
the Compang assertionsn the 2006 1(KSB were false as a matter of law. In its filingmart

stated only that it wascbntinuing to develdpits zerozero systemSee2006 10KSB at 5

(emphasis added)This is differenfrom averringthat all cards can and always will perform at
that level. And Exponent’s 2008 test showing that, once a user was enr@ledses claims
were borme out, is enough evidence to arguably substanti§tea&+t’s development claims
even ifthe technology had not yet begerfectedat the time The Court, therefore, finds that a
disputeof factremains on this issue.
c. Wireless Capability

The SEC next contends thaSeaart’s card did not have the wireless capabilities claimed
in the 2006 10-KSB. A quick meis in order here. Whereas the normal course, a persomay
think of wireless capabilities primarily in terms of datnsferbetween a smart caethd a
readey the central question in this casactuallythe cards’ ability t@raw powemwirelessly
from the reader. A smart card suchlasone eésmart claimed to have can only function in a
non-contact way if it is able to draw power from a wisdeeader. In this way, a reader both
supplies the power to the card (whertlose enougliproximity) and sends and receives data
from the card.Seeid. at 4 (‘The eSmart product . .will work . . .with a reader that does not
require physicatontact, as power and data are transferred to each card through an electro

magnetic field generated by such a aaader’).
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The SECcontendghat eSmart did not have a wireless card in 2008. substantiate this
argumentit relies on IDTP’s repors well aghetestimony of eSmart engineersin its
evaluation of ésmart’s wireless claims, IDTP examined three exengtmart ards
purportedly assembled prior to mid-2008. Two of these, the Flag Card and “I| Am Card,” were
presented to a wireless reader, which showed that the cards did not haveetesswapability.
SeeExpert Report of IDTP{14-17. IDTP then examined the third, called the “Mybi card,”
and found that the fingerprint-matching portion of the card was noected to the wireless
antenna.ld., 1114, 16. IDTP concludedbased on these tedtsat the eSmart cards assembled
prior to mid2008 did not containanantenna connected to the fingerpmnm&tching components

as would be required to power their operatiolas, § 18. IDTP also examined cards produced

after mid2008 and rageparatéestson these, the validity of which Saito hotly contests.
Becausehte Court limits its findings toardsthat predate the 2006 18SB, however, it need
not weigh in on this dispute.

As for pre2008 wireless capacity, Saito replies in his Motiomith typical
understatement that the SEC’s claims are “preposterous” because “Plaintiff's own witness
produced a wireless card of defendant’s that he manufactured for plaintiff in 20G5 w
Declaration stating the same.” Crddst. & Opp. at 40. Unfortunately, Saito fails to identify
the purported witness. To support the proposition, moreover, he cites enigmatically to
Attachment A, Exhibit 24 Seeid. The Court interprets this asetiting itto the Index of
Exhibits accompanying Saito’s MotioggeECF No. 497-2, and indeed, at Number 24, among
other thingsappearshe phrase “preposterous claims th&reart did not have wireless card” (in
al caps) with a list of purportesupporting documentsSeeid., § 24. The problem is that no

Exhibit 24 was ever appended to the Motion — and no documents matching the descriptions
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provided in the Index are to be found in the docket. This is a glaring omission, considering the
fact that, accaling to Defendant, the exhibitwhatever it is- provedalseno fewer than 22
paragraphs of the SEC’sgfement of FactsSeeCrossMot. & Opp. at 40.

In one of his Statemesnbf Facts, Saito does paste in portions of a declaration of Michael
Gardineranengineemwho hadworked oncards for eSmart prior to 2005SeeDSOF(ECF No.
496-1)at 6163. In Gardiner’s declaration, he identified prototype smart cards, photos of which
include the words “wireless power” and a “July 2005” date notatidrat 62. Of these cards,
Gardinerstatedn his declaration“wireless power was designed to permit mipayments
through a multiapplication smart card chip.ld. at 62. This mention of “wireless powegaito
concludes, provethe Commission’slaims false.

In response, the SEC contends that Gardiner’s Declaration actually regitsrc
evidence that-&mart’s cards didothave a commercially viable wireless function. esp. to
DSOF (ECF No. 522, at 19. Specifically, in the same deal#on to which S#o adverts,

Gardiner made clear thgh]one of the prototype &mart cards contained a consistent wireless
power capability designed or created b$reart and/or Tamio Saito.” PIl. Reply, Att. 10 (ECF
No. 522-12 (Declaration of MichaeGardiner), 1 5. In the passage quoted by Defendant,
moreover, Gardiner’s entidaimis illuminating:

To the extent that the wireless power was designed to permit

micro-payments through a multi-application smart card chip, those

capabilities were not asSmart product and belonged to a

company other than e-Smart for whom the card was designed. The

configuration . . . was also supposed to enable a biometric circuit

to perform the biometric matching function without the card being

plugged into a smart card reader for power. While we had been

able to make that function work occasionally in the laboratbey,

card did not consistently and reliably perform this function

wirelessly . . . [A]nd the card . . . did not perform wireless
biometric matching for micrpayments.

23



Id., 1 12 (emphasis addedphis is a significant concessiotonsidering thisapabilitywas at
the heart of €marts representations. p&cifically, eSmart claimed that it had a “[Jwireless][]

compatible smart card withfemgerprint sensor onboard, biometric matching engine onboard and

a multrapplication processgready]for deployment today.” 2006 1KSB at 5 (emphas

added).That its card at that time could r®ten wirelessly authenticate fingerprints is a drastic
departure from its representationgaken as a who)eéhe Court agrees with the SEGardiner’s
testimony supports, rather than contradit$s;ontentions.

Based on the undisputed fadtsgreforethe Gurt concludes that, as of 2007Seart
did not have a commercially available smart card that could perform its biomettcting
functions wireledy, as it claimed in its SEC filing

d. BVS2 System

The SEC next contends thatSart never successfully ddoped the overall
implementing architecture it claimed to have available for its smart-dhel system it referred
to as BVS2. The Commission’s evidence on this point comes from Thomas Huffman, an
engineewho identified himsel&s “the designer” of the BVS2 systei@eePl. Mot., Att. 22
(ECF No. 389-9) (Deposition of Tom Huffman) at 93:8. According to him, when he $aftast
in 2008, he still had not completed development on BV&2act that he relayed to Saitctla¢
time. Seeid. at 95:17-98:2. A system that was not developed by 2008, the SEC concludes,
could not have been commercially available in 2007, as claimed in e-Smart’s 2R@&B10-

Saito fails to dispute the SEC on this point; he mentions the BVS2 system only once in
his Motion — in an excerpted portion of an August 2007 business plan authored BQ®en-
Richard Barrettdentifying the system by name. S€eossMot. & Opp. at 36. Even if he had

produced thiplan in its complete and admissible fotmowever the fleeting mention of the
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BVS2 it contans does not rebut the facts as presented by the SEC: it does not establish the
system’s existence, change the fact that the system was aspirational inr28@xedHuffman’s
claim that he told Saito afs nonexstencein 2008. In other words, Saito does not raise a
dispute as to the existence of the BVS2 system. The Court, therefore, concludebkdhmot
exist in 2007.
e. Multi-Application System

The SEC next claims that, contrary t&mart’s representatisnit did not have a card in
2007 capable of multiple independent applications — that is, it could not function simultaneously
as a bank card, an access card, and an identification®aefPSOF,  23In relation to this
claim, he Commissioragain relles on the testimony of Huffmawhotestified that the-&mart
cards he was exposed to through 2009 did not have aapplication capability Seeid.;
Huffman Dep. at 88:8-89:9. The SEC also presents the deposition of Todd Carper, an engineer
with whom eSmart consulted in attempts to create rraytiplication software. In his deposition,
Carper testified that, by the time he stopped interacting wi&mart in 2006, he had not licensed
any software to-&mart because Iitad failed to pay his invoice§SeePI. Mot., Att. 28
(misidentified as Att. 24) (ECF No. 390-2) (Deposition of Todd Alan Carper) at 56:9-61:17.
Finally, to round out its case, the SEC ndtest Saitchimselfadmittedthat Carper’'s was the
only operatingsystem that existed at the time to allo\Bmart’s card to perform securely in a
multifunctional environmentSeePSOF, { 24.

The Court notes, however, that while Saito did aver as much in a declaration, that
statement prelated the communicatioas issuan the 2006 10-B by a yar. SeePl. Mot.,
Att. 54 (misidentified as Att. 26) (ECF No. 391-11) (October 4, 2006, Declaration of Tamio

Satio), 1 16. Anadni his declaration, Saito makes clear that it was in “early 2006” that he
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believed Carper’s operating system was the only solution $nart. Id. At most, this
concession — combined with Carper’s departure around the sastablishes that®mart was
unable to develop a multifunctioning operating system with Carpeariyn 2006 Yet this leaves
an entire year in which-8mart could have developed that technology through other means.
Huffman, moreover, only testified to never being “exposed” to a multifunctioning card —
assertion that falls short of establishing thatirstechnology did not exist throughout the relevant
timeframe.

The Court, consequently, concludes that a dispute remains on multi-functionality.

f. 1SO 7816 Compliance

The SEC next claims that, contrary to representations in 2007, $imeagtcard was not
ISO 7816 compliant becaugewvas toathick to satisfy this standard=or thereademwithout a
doctorate in electrical engineerin®O 7816 is the international standard for electronic ID cards
with contacts- cards like eSmart’s. ISO 7816, in turn, substantially adopts the physical
characteristics required b8O 7810, which is the international standard for ID cafidse SEC
claims that ésSmart’s card did not me#tesestandard, andt points to two pieces of evidence to
makeits caseMcGoran’s depositiotestimonyanda thickness test upon which Exponent relied
that concluded &mart ards were too thick to meet the ISO 7810 stand8ekPI. Mot., Att.
37 (ECF No. 390-9) (August 7, 20@B;lipse LaboratorieReport); McGoran Dep. at 72:2-
73:16.

Notwithstandinghis data Exponent did not conclude thaBemart's ISO 7816 claims
were false.The consulting firm noted that “[t]he height and width dimensions onl #il*
card measured within the 1ISO requirement, as stated in ISO/IEC7810. The thidknession

measureglightly outside the ISO requirement as is common with cards containing such
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embedded technologies.” Exponent Report at 10 (emphasis added). Expoocemtingly,
concluded that &mart’s card wasphysically compatible and interoperable with most 1IS07816
readers’ and that it me*“the height, width, location of contacts, surface profile of contacts,
warpage, and opacity requirements specified by IS0 78#0&t 19.

Based on this evidence, the Court codelithat the SEC is not entitled to summary
judgment on this issue. E-smart’s 2006 10-KSB did not meatigrspecifidSO 7810 or ISO
7816 requirementsThe companylaimed instead, only that the card was ISO 7816
“compatible.” 2006 10KSB at 5. Expanent’s conclusion that the card was compatible and
interoperable with most ISO 7816 readarguablysubstantiates-8mart’s claimon this front.
The Courttherefore cannot conclude that e-Smart’s ISO 7816 claims in the 206&Bweae
false as a mattef law.

g. Commercial Availability

Finally, the SEC maintairthat, nomatter what features®mart haduccessfully
realized in anyrototype cards, they were prohibitively expensivememufactureas late as
2008, and therefore not commerciadlyailable SeeP30F, | 55. According to the SEC.:

The eSmart business plan was based on [its] ability to sell its
smart cards for $20 per card. The cost of just three hardware
components purportedly onSmarts cards exceed $28 per card,
which does not includemong others, the software license fees,
the costs to assemble the cards, and the related travel and overhead
costs.
Id. The Conmission’s case is stror@n this point.As it points outSaito admitted iris
deposition that “the main issue-Smart facd with the Fujitsu Sensorwhich eSmart was

using at that time-was thait “cost $20 per unit, and [e-Smart] wanted to provide a card at the

price of $20 a piece, so it would not payseePIl. Mot., Att. 25B (ECF No. 389-13) (Deposition
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of Tamio Saitpat 171:15-18. A card that could not be manufactured for less than its sales price,
the SEC concludes, could not be available for immediate commercial deployment.

Saito, for his part, never argues that a card sold at significant lossnomdthelesbe
“‘commercially available.” Hisnain dispute comes from an email dated August 21, 2007, a
portion of which he hagasted into his brief. In the email, th€OO Barrett stated,
“Conversations were very productive, and | look forward to continuing déslag deliver the
first 3,000 units. SeeCrossMot. & Opp. at 37. “COO Barrett’s . . . refereficBefendant
argues, to “the IMMEDIATE delivery of 3000 cards proves false Plaintiff’'s [accusations]
regarding the ‘commercially availabilesic] e-Smart Card.”ld. Saito is wrong. He provides no
detail about what these “units” were, evidence that they were in fact “deliveragason to
believe that they were not still praively expensive to produce.

Saito also points to a business plan that Barrett drafted in Augustsg@TipossMot. &
Opp. at 36, with the same conclusory assertion about availability. As the SEC points out i
response, however, Barrett madear in thasamebusiness plan that e-Smart could not be
expected to have@steffective sensor until “late 2008 3eePI. Rep. at 12 (quoting id., Att. 4
(ECFNo. 522-6) (2007 Business Plan) at 19). The goal for 2008, Barrett saichenagto
continue to analyze the prototype unit, with #@ of developing a card withellequate
reliability.” 2007 Business Plan at 22. Far from showing thamert had a commercially
availablecard in 2007, this plan actually supports the SEC'’s allegations.

The Court concludes, therefore, that it is undisputed that the prototypaarthad
produed as ofiling its 200610-KSB were too expensive to leeonomicallyiable. Thisfact
might not be enough t@nder eSmart’s availability claimactivdy misrepresentativgperhaps a

card sold at a loss could still be technically “commercially availdole*deployment today.”
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At the very least, however,®mart’s failure to disclosie extent of such loss alongsitke
boasts ofmmediate availabilitamounts to a signdantomission, the materiality of which will

be explored below.

Beforesummarizing its findings regarding falsithe Courtpausesriefly to address two
global arguments Saito raisgsoughout briefing. First, Heequently referencegeneralized
phrases provided by experts smartcardtechnologyandseems to implyhat these statements
prove the SEC's allegations fals€or instance, he repeatedly qudesguage from the
Exponent Report in which “deemed . . . [&mart’'s cardpn ‘advanced technological device’
and an ‘advanced scientific achievement.” Crbkst. & Opp. at 6 (quoting Exponent Report at
vii). He also quotes one of his experts, Dr. Behnan Bavarian, \wweddentifies asthe father
of AFIS and Biometrics,” idat 8,and who opined, among other things, tHabtetric smart
cards are on the leading edge of technologyetl@rationof Dr. Behnan Bavarian (ECF No.
500-2), 1 16.Defendantappears to concludbatsuch generalized praigeoves trueeverything
specific thae-Smartsaidaboutits card. To state the argument, however, is to recognizast is
baseless.

Second, Saito also occasionally pastes in evidence that purports to sho8iet &as
able to provide some clients with cards in pilot progra®ese, e.g.Cross-Mot. & Opp. &35.

Saito suggests from such claims (unsupported by documentary evidence) that the RG& 10-
included no misrepresentations. The problemtls Saito’s argumenhoweverarethat: (1) he
provides no timeframe for when these pilots were supposedly implemented (&nid tiwod
reason to believe they occurrdteathe relevant timeframe here), sée(quoting a report from

April 8, 2009); (2) he provides no description of the capabilities obatlyecards that might
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havebeendeployedn these pilots; and (3) he does not establish that, even if available for
prototype or pilot deployment, e-Smart’s cards were economically fe&sipteduce. In other
words, even this evidence does ocontradictthe facts that the SEC has established in its
Motion.

Nonetheless, as discussed above, the @oadludes thadummary judgment is not
appropriate othe SEC'’s allegations thatSmart lied about its developiagzerezero system
its smart cards’ IS@ompadibility, ortheir multi-functionality.

Summary judgment ishoweverwarrantedn the accusations that, contrary to its claims

in the 2006 1KSB:

E-Smart useafingerprintsensor that was neither unique nor able to function
regardless of a user’s skin condition;
e E-Smart did not have a commerciadlyailablesmart card that could perform its
biometricmatching functions wirelebs
e The BVS2 systene-Smart claimed could run its entire systdid not existand
e E-Smart could not produce ardahat was commercially availabd@dready for
“deployment today.”
To this extety the Court concludes thatSsnart’s filing constituted a misrepresentation
as a matter of law
2. The “Maker” of the Statements
Of course, to be liable for the misrepresentations$meat’'s2006 10KSB, Saito must
have been the“maker” On this front, even though he signed the filing, Saito alleges that he
did notmakethe statements contained thereln an attempt to escapesponsibility, he denies

drafting the filingand says, instead, thaBenart’'s COO and securities lawyer wrotelit fact, a
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great deal of Saito’s briefing concerns the fact that he wasopgtd on emails sending around
versions of the 2006 1RSB throughout itdrafting See, e.g.Cross-Mot. & Opp. at 12-14
(excerpting emails regarding the drafting of theKIEB); but see PSOF, { 72; Pl. Mot., Att. 65
(ECF No. 462-3(testimonyof thensecurities attorneyMaranda Fritzconfirmingthat Saito
was &posed to the 18SB draft language).

Whether it was Saito who first put pen to paper to draft the filing, however, is inmthate

In Janus Capital Group, Inc. v. First Derivative Traders, 131 S. Ct. 2296 (2011), the Supreme

Court addressed when an individual or entity “makes” a statement. It explained:
For purposes of Rule 10b-5, the maker of a statement is the person
or entity with ultimate authority over the statement, including its
content and whether and how to communicate it. Without control,

a person or entity can merely suggest what to say, not “make” a
statement in its own right. One who prepares or publishes a
statement on behalf of another is not its maker. And in the
ordinary case, attribution within a statement or implicit from
surrounding circumstances is strong evidence that a statement was
made by- and only by the party to whom it is attributed.

Id. at 2302. Undedanus Capital, then, Saito “made” the statemienttse filingif hehad

“ultimate authority” ovetheir content.

The Commissiorargues that Saito fits this bill. sA&t points out, {P]ersons who sign
statements filed with the Commission, such as Forris, Hoe typically found to be makers of
the staterants and primarily liable for them.” PI. Mot. at 16 (citiegg, SEC v. Brown, 878 F.
Supp. 2d 109, 116 (D.D.C. 201Z)KO was makeof statementsinder Janusy SEC periodic
reports that she signed)And as CTO, Saito was clearly the party with “ultimate authority'rove

e-Smart’s technologglaims The 2006 10&SB itself divulges: Except for Tamio Saito, our

Chief Technical Officernone of our management team has ever operated a smart card business

or has any experience with the manufacture and marketing of smart card ptodQ6& 10-
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KSB at 10(emphasis added)it identifies Saito athe “Chief inventor ofthe] BVS2™ and

Super Smart Card™ technology” and notes that he was “the individual best able to dontinue
refine, to present and to customize the use ®inait’'s system and oversee its installatiolal.”

It is clear basedrothe text of the 16SB that— o all the signatories Saito wadikely the only
onewho couldhave verifiedhe accuracy of its technology claimSeeDefs.” Am. Answer

(ECF No. 59), 1 18 (admittinglfat Defendat Saito . . . led the technology development at e-
Smart from 2000 tappoximately 2008”). In other words, he hadtfmate authority over
representations regarditige state of €mart’sscience Once signed by him, thégcame his
statemerd.

Saito, however, disputes this point as well. At various points in his briefing, he
indicates that he did not himself sign the 2006<BRB. See, e.q.Cross-Mot. & Opp. at 17-18
(“As usual, upon approval of Counsel the acting CFO Anthony Russo . . . who filed the
document affixed CTO Saito and CEO Grace’s signature to the Certificati@ut’)such
passingaspersionsvill not save Saito He provides no documentary evidemgeatsoeveto
supportsuch aserious allegationg®g,e.q, id. (citing merely to the 2006 1KSB that includes
his signature), nor dod® include with his Motion a sworn declaration or affidaxerringthat
he never received the KB or that someonelsefraudulently signed hisame in his place
without his permission. This omission cannot be chalked up igriosance as pro selitigant.
He verified all ofhis exhibits with a declaraticand has shown tleapacityto submit
substantivaleclarationsvhen they fit his purpose in the paSee e.g, ECF No. 139-3

(September 17, 2013edlaration submittednd signedby Saito).
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The Court, therefore, concludes thatbusdefendantvas the principal &hority on e-
Smart’s technologgnd beause he signed the 2006 K&B, he “made” the misrepresentations
regarding éSmart’s card contained therein.

3. Scienter

The Court turns next to the questionwafiether Saito acted with the requisite mental state
to establish liability. In Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 enforcement adi@n€ommission
must prove that the defendant acted sitlenter SeeAaron v. SEC, 446 U.S. 680, 691 (1980);

Dolphin & Bradbury, Inc. v. SEC, 512 F.3d 634, 639 (D.C. Cir. 2008). This transidtes

mental state embracing intent to deceive, maniputaitdefraud.” Aaron 446 U.S. at 686 n.5

(quoting_Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 425 U.S. 185, 194 n.12 (1976)). This Circuit has held that

it encompasses both intentional wrongdoing and conduct undertaken with extrenssnessde

SeeDolphin & Bradbury, 512 F.3d at 639 (citiSEC v. Steadmar®67 F.2d 636, 641 (D.C. Cir.

1992)). Extreme recklessness is more than “a should have known standard[;] . . . [tlather, i
extreme departure from the standards of ordinary care . . . which presentsraoflangieading
buyers or sellers that is either known to the defendant or is so obvious that the actavwaust
been aware of it."ld. (quotingSteadman967 F.2d at 641-42) (internal quotation marks

omitted). Courts have resolved issues@énter in appropriate cases, at the sumrjadgment

stage._See, e,65EC v. Milan Group, Inc., 962 F. Supp. 2d 182, 201 (D.D.C. 2013); SEC v.

Monterosso, 756 F.3d 1326, 1336 (11th Cir. 2014); SEC v. George, 426 F.3d 786, 795 (6th Cir.

2005);_SEC v. Platforms Wéless Int'l Corp.617 F.3d 1072, 1095-96 (9th Cir. 2010).

Given Saito’s role at-&matrt, there is simplyo way he could have beamstakenabout
the state of its technology. As noted abdwewas the only member ofSmart's management

team that had “ever operated a smart card business or [had] any experience withuthetanan
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and marketing of smart card products,” and as far&mar’'scoretechnology was concerned,

he purportedly invented itSee2006 10-KSB at 10. There is no way that the only person in a
company who could verify the truth of its technological claims could be confused about those
claims when making them.

Nor could Saito have been in the dark on the various aspecSmésd:s technological
development. As he himsealésets in briefing, “Policies and Procedures were implemented that
requiredeveryemployee to make reports in writirgso the company had records — and so they
could be translated — and the company would have a recordddithand weeklyactivities
related to all information from each office and lab, which was required to be put into daily and
weekly reports Cross-Mot. & Opp. at 3 (emphases addd8igcause of such procedur&aito

contends, heréceived all the reports and data on the technical iksaad development and

advancement of the technologies, which is compiled in Defendant’s Experts Report .. . .,

recording the status of the technology from its inception through the releastof this
complaint, which is invaluable to prove that all Defenflpsitclaims in the 10K and other public
disclosures i$sic] accurate at the time they were made which is at issue in this ddsat"4
(emphasis added)Cther than referring to the fact tHais Expert Report exist§aito
unfortunately does not follow through and demonstrate where the supposed reportghate or
they show. The net result of all of this is that Saito has madetlctthe stayedabreast of €
Smart'sresearch and development effdstsway offrequentinternalreports, but he has not
provided any evidence that those repsttistantiatethis claims in the 2006 1RSB.
Saito’sotherargument®n scienterarebewildering. To fully follow them, a bit of
background is in order. Robd&arrett who has been mentioned inspangin this Opinionwas

hired in 2006 to serve as COO, big tenure at€mart was short lived. According to his
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testimony in an earlier employmeaattion, he was fired because he disagreedthéh

technology claimg-Smart’'smanagement wanted tocinde in the 2006 18SB. SeePl. Mot.,

Att. 62C (ECF No. 3920) (Testimony of Richard Barrettl.hese disputes are memorialized, in
part, in emaildie exchangedith other membersf e-Smart’s managemetgamin thefall of

2007. Barrett ultimately claimed that Grace pushed him out of the picture whdndesir® toe
the lineon e-Smart’s technology.

Saito’s argumengoes to the exchanges Barrett had regarding the drafts of the disputed
10-KSB and the SEC’s subsequahégationsagainst ésmart. Specifically, he claims thiie
SEC failal to “prove that the CTO Saitodlj the CEO Grace wasyer told or ever knew that
COO Barrett made a claim that he believed [tiegt] zerof]zero and multi[lapplication[claims]
in the 10K were inaccurate and/or had not been tested, until they were told thatatioallead
been made to this effect by Plaintitbng after the event occurred .”. .CrossMot. & Opp. at
3. “The case against the CTO and CEO,” he goes on to say, “is based on one thing][:] did the
CTO and CEO know, and wasi¢] the CTO and CEO told of any of the alleged inaccuracies in
the 10K, and if there were in fact any inaccuracies in the subject 10K’s aldall."A
preponderance ¢the] evidence,” heoncludes, “proves that . . . the alleged inaccuracies were
never reported to either the CTO or CEO (during the relevant time period) artetikat® and
CEO only heard of them after the SEC made the allegations Id.; See alsad. at 5
(“Through October 2007 neither the CTO nor the CEO received any report of any of the
allegations in th¢First Amended Complaint] and therefore did not know and could not have
known about them if they were never reported and therefore could not have acted with

[s]cienter.”).
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This argument is strange for several reasons. First, it appears tbas 8ajuingthat he
could not have known #t e Smart’stechnology did not perform as claimed until 8i€Ctold
him so. But, of course, it is not the contents of the SEC'’s allegations that would legtablis
knowledge of the science — presumably, it wouldhisdirsthand exposure to it. Second, Saito
seems to imply that the questionsafentergoes to whtherhe knew there was a dispute about
thelanguage of th&0-KSB during its drafting This argumenalsomisses the mark. To make
its case, the SEC needtraiow that Saito knew of internal conflicts regarding thé& &
languageit mustinsteadshowthathe knew of -or at least was reckless in disregarditge
falsity of eSmart’s claims. Again, his knowledge of thast as the principal architect of e
Smart’s technology would come from his first-hand exposureatidg¢bhnology. To say, “I did
not know our cards did not work, because no one in management or the SEC told me so,” ignores
the fact that he was tlaithority upon whoneveryone elseelied Finally, hisargument is

confusing inits preoccupatiomvith Grace’sknowledge of the state of®mart’'s scienceSaito

explains this in part by sayirtgat the “CEO is included in this Motion as it is relevant to know
if the CEO was given the information and did not provide it to the CTO or if both the CTO and
CEO were nevetold or ever knew odny alleged inaccuraciesldl. Yet this explanation
presents the exact same problasrhis arguments above.ighores the fact th&aitoshouldbe
the one confirming the accuraofe-Smart’srepresentations in the 10-KSB. It is unclear why
he would need to rely on Grace to learn of the stateSyhart’s science.

Given the uncontroverted evideno®, reasonable jury coulzklieve that Saito, as CTO,
did not know that the produbt claimed to have ready for deploymen2007was, in fact,

lacking in both significant technological respects and prol@itiexpensive to manufacture.

36



4. Materiality
Themisrepresentations in tf206 10KSB, moreover, were undoubtediyaterial. For
information b be material, “there must be a substantial likelihood that the disclosure of the
omitted fact would have been viewed by the reasonable investor as havingaigyitdtered

the total mix of information made availableBasic Inc. v. Levinsor485 U.S. 224, 231-32

(1988) (quotindr' SC Indus., Inc. v. Northway, Inc126 U.S. 438, 449 (1976)nternal

guotation marks omitted¥eealsoMedia General, Inc. v. Tomljr387 F.3d 865, 869 (D.C. Cir.

2004). In other words, a fact is material if a reasonable investor Wiodlthe information
“important.” Steadman967 F.2cat 643 (citingBasic Inc, 485 U.S. at 231-32).

One cannot disputiat nvestors in @zompanybuilt on the development and marketing
of a single product would rely heavily on the description of that product dé@ding whether
and to what extent to invest. As this Court has recognized previously, a reasonale invest
would consider misrepresentations about the stateéSofi@t’s technology to be materidt-
Smartl, 31 F. Supp. 3d at 80-81. Indeeak, & company like-€martthatonly makes one thing,

its claims abouits productare material as a matter of laBeeSEC v. Platforms Wireless Int’l

Corp, 617 F.3d 1072, 1095 (9th Cir. 2010) (“A finished, tested product is almost certainly the
single most important piece of information for an investor deciding whetlmrest in a start

up company.); see als&GtratoComm?2 F. Supp. at 25F Statements related to whether a

company has a product to sell are material as a matter of law. . . . This is particugaior
developmenstage companies.”) (citatioosnitted).

In this caseSaito falsely representsdynificant aspects of&mart’spurported product.
He boastedcontrary to the trutlthate-Smart used a fingerprint sensor that was unique and able

to function regardless of a user’s skin condition. He claimed tBatat had a commercially
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available smart card that could perfotsibiometriematching functions wirelessly, when it did
not. He touted &mart’s secalledBVS2 system, which did not exist. And he represented that
e-Smart’s card was ready for deployment when, in fact, it could not even ldyfeasduced.
Any one d these misrepresentations on its own would be material to an investor; adtiesyup,
show theyawning gap between®&mart’s representations and the reality of its prodAct.
reasonable investor would want to know that, instead of a highly functionabamdercially
available producte-Smartactually hadnly prototypeswith limited featureshat were too
expensive to manufacture. Saito’s m@esentatianwould have beematerial to investors.
5. In ConnectionWith

Finally, the Court concludes that thmaisrepresentations weneade “in connection with”
the purchase or sale of securities. “The Supreme Court has held that the ‘in conniiti
element is a broad and flexible standard and that any activity ‘touchisglthef securities’ will

suffice.” SEC v. Levine, 671 F. Supp. 2d 14, 31 (D.D.C. 2009) (quoting Superintendent of Ins.

v. Bankers Life & Cas. Co., 404 U.S. 6, 12-13 (1971)). “Where the fraud alleged involves public

dissemination in a document such as a press release, annual report, [or] investipeactusros

. on which an investor would presumably relyis burden is metSEC v. Rana Research, Inc.

8 F.3d 1358, 1362 (9th Cir. 1993ke als&ECv. Savoy Indus., Inc., 587 F.2d 1149, 1171

(D.C. Cir. 1978) (noting this “requirement is satisfied whenevaiay reasonably be expected
that a publicly disseminated document will cause reasonable investors to buyecwsdties in
reliance thereon”) Because th&0-KSB was the kind of document upon which an investor
would regularlyrely, the misrepresentatsit containedvere made “in connection with” the

sale of securitiesSeeE-Smart | 31 F. Supp. 3d at §2iting Rana Resear¢i8 F.3dat 1362);

see als®@avoy Indus.587 F.2d at 1171.
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In conclusion, the undisputed facts establish that Saito knowingtie material
misrepresentations in connection with the sale of secuintithee 2006 10<SB. He isthus
liable for violating Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5.

D. Section 16(a) Violations

The SEC’s secondaim is, thankfully, much more easily resetithan the first Here, it
allegesthat Saito failed to fileertain statements as requitedSection 16(a) of the Exchange
Act. That provisiorprovides that “[e]very person who is directly or indirectly the beneficial
owner of more than 10 percentay class of any equity security (other than an exempted
security) which is registered pursuant to sectidnof ghis title, or who is a director or an officer
of the issuer of such security” must file ownership statements with the S&£15 U.S.C. §
78p(a)(1). These include initial ownership statements on Form 3, statemeloisimtjschanges
in beneficial ownership on Form 4, and annual statements on Fa8®eetd. § 78p(a)(2); 17
C.F.R. 8 240.16a-3. To establish a violation of these provisions, the SEC must sHeaitthat
was an officer, director, or 10% beneficial owner and that he did not file Section 16(a)
disclosures after an applicable triggering ev&ageSEC v. Prince, 942 F. Supp. 2d 108, 131
(D.D.C. 2013).

As this Court concluded in ruling @mn earlier motionit does not appednatscienteris
requiredto establish liability SeeE-Smartlll, 2015 WL 583931, at *4-fciting cases from
other district courts so holding and a D.C. Circuit decision so holding as to an analogous
provision) As a resultthe claimis quickly resolved again§aita E-Smart was an issuer of
securities registered under Sectiol(@B See2006 10KSB at 1;PIl. Mot., Att. 2 (ECF No. 388-

5) (2007 10-K) at 1. Although Saitmgueghat he was not a heficial owner of more than 10
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percent of éSmart stock, the plain language of the rule covers him as a diaectofficer of e
Smart. E-Smartlll, 2015 WL 583931, at *5Saito isand has been &mart's CTO.SeePSOF,

1 5. He also served as one of the company’s directors and was subject to Section 16(a)’s
requirements in that role as wefeeDefs.” Am. Answer, f18. And, as é&mart reported in its
June 25, 2009, Preliminary Information Statement under Section 14(@s mever filed an
ownership statement with the Commissi@eePSOF,J 10. Because the material facts related
to this count are undisputed, summary judgment in favor of the SEC is warr8eiede.g.
Verdiramq 890 F. Supp. 2d at 273 (granting SEC summary judgment on 8§ 16(a) Samj;

Brokerage Services, Inc., 608 F. Supp. 2d at®b{same).

V. Conclusion

Having sifted through the sprawling asometimes impenetrable filings in this cabe,
Court concludes that the undisputed facts show that Saitle materiainisrepresentations in
connection with the salef securities in violation Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5 and that he
violated Section 16(&)y failing to file required statement3he Court wil] accordinglygrant
the SEC’sMotion for Summary Judgment and deny Defendant’s. A contemporaneous Order
will so state. The Court will address the question of remedies in a subsequent proceeding.

/s/ James E. Boasberg

JAMES E. BOASBERG
United States District Judge

Date: March 30, 2015
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